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Abstract

The Kulmhof extermination camp in Chelmno nad Nerem was the first camp set up
by the Nazis to exterminate Jews during the Second World War. The history of Kul-
mhof has long been an area of interest for academics, but despite thorough research
it remains one of the least-known places of its kind among the public. Studies of
the role of archaeology in acquiring knowledge about the functioning of the camp
have been particularly compelling. The excavations carried out intermittently over
a thirty-year period (1986-2016), which constitute the subject of this article, have
played a key role in the rise in public interest in the history of the camp.

Key words: Holocaust, Kulmhof, Chelmno nad Nerem, extermination camp, con-
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Introduction

The history of the Kulmhof extermination camp in Chelmno nad Nerem has fre-
quently been the subject of scientific research over the years.! These studies have
revealed much about the history of the camp, which was the first centre for the
instantaneous extermination of Jews. Despite thorough research, it remains one
of the least-known places of its kind among the public. This is primarily a result
of the scarcity of sources,? consisting mainly of post-war trial testimonies, which
have obvious limitations. On occasion, distinct discrepancies between testimonies
have led to contradictory interpretations, causing difficulties such as those faced in
determining the locations of mass graves in the Rzuchdéw forest.

Meanwhile, a different perspective is provided by archaeological research, which
in the early twenty-first century has consolidated its position in the context of
crime scene research.®> The work carried out at former Nazi concentration and
extermination camps has acquired a special character. Contemporary archaeology,
including totalitarian archaeology, relies on written sources and iconography, as
well as direct oral communication and eyewitness accounts. Archaeological exca-
vations enable the acquisition of materials that could not be uncovered in any other
way. Research methodologies, including the documentation of stratigraphic units,
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precise measurements and plans, the inventory of acquired materials, and compar-
ative analysis, allow the broadening of the research perspective. Uncovered items
cease to be purely evidential, taking on the status of monuments. Meanwhile, the
context of their discovery at a memorial site gives them a new commemorative
significance, and their exposition helps to reinstate the memory of the victims.*

An outline of the camp’s history

The extermination camp in Chelmno nad Nerem (Kulmhof am Ner in German)
was the first centre of this type organised by the Nazis, and the only one function-
ing in the area of the so-called Reichsgau Wartheland.® The decision to create the
camp was probably made as early as the summer of 1941 and was influenced by
the initiative undertaken at the level of local administrative structures, including
by Arthur Greiser, an imperial lieutenant (Reichsstatthalter), who also served as the
leader (Gauleiter) of the local division of the National Socialist German Workers’
Party (NSDAP) (Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeitspartei).”

The small village of Chelmno nad Nerem in the district of Kolski (Kr. Warth-
briicken), located less than seventy kilometres from Lédz (Litzmannstadt), was
chosen as the site for the camp. In November 1941 a special unit (Sonderkommando)
arrived under the command of SS-Hauptsturmfiihrer Herbert Lange.® An estate
located on the north-western edge of the town was annexed for the purpose of their
operations. The old palace served as the main camp building, housing prisoners’
cells and small workshops, as well as changing rooms for new arrivals.’ Later, vic-
tims would be taken through the basement corridor (sometimes referred to as the
death corridor), at the end of which was a van that had been converted into a mobile
gas chamber, located at the eastern entrance to the basement. The vehicle would
then be driven to the Rzuchéw forest, four kilometres outside the village, which
was used as a cemetery.

The operation of the camp can be divided into two stages. The first lasted from
8 December 1941 (the first transport from nearby Koto) to 11 April 1943, when the
commando unit left the area after blowing up most of the buildings, including the
palace and the two crematoria that had been erected in the Rzuchéw forest. In less
than a year and a half, all provincial ghettos in the Reichsgau Wartheland (except
the £6dz ‘closed district’), which were concentrated mainly in the eastern part of
Wielkopolska Province and around 16dz, were liquidated.’® During the first nine
months of 1942 around 70,000 residents of the £.6dz ghetto'' were subjected to mass
deportations, including around 4,000 Roma and Sinti from the £6dZ Gypsy camp
(Zigeunerlager)."* Due to the worsening epidemiological situation, the transports
were suspended for several weeks in the summer of 1942. Corpses were extracted
from graves and burned, initially in open pits - SS-Standartenfithrer Paul Blobel
was sent to Chelmno to take charge of ‘Action 1005’ (Aktion 1005, Sonderkom-
mando 1005)"* - and later in specially constructed field crematoria. In March 1943
the decision was made to liquidate the camp.

The next German garrison arrived in March 1944 and started preparations to
reopen the camp. As the palace had been destroyed, exterminations were carried
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out in the Rzuchoéw forest, where barracks were built to accommodate the victims.
Between 23 June and 14 July 1944, ten transports arrived from the £6dz ghetto, car-
rying a total of 7,196 people."* The action was discontinued after this date, most
likely due to the rapidly changing situation on the Eastern Front and the approach
of the Soviet army towards the Vistula. It was then decided that the Jews remaining
in the ghetto would be deported to the Auschwitz-Birkenau concentration camp.'
Part of the German garrison and a group of the last Jewish prisoners remained in
the village. They were tasked with destroying all traces of the camp’s operation. The
garrison evacuated the area on 18 January 1945; before they left, the last forty-five
prisoners were executed by shooting or burned to death in the torched granary
building.

Even today, it is difficult to determine the true number of victims killed at
Chetmno. The lowest contemporary estimates indicate at least 152,000 victims, but
most researchers have determined the figure to be between 170,000 and 200,000.'6

First excavations

Despite the damage done by the German garrison, relics of several of the camp
buildings were visible immediately after the liberation. The evidence was preserved
in the memories of the local population. One local resident, Zofia Szalek, recalled
at the time: ‘we went to the granary straight away, we saw how those people had
been burned’'” They saw the remains of the palace and, most strikingly, the gra-
nary building that had been consumed by fire. Valuable information comes from
the account of Jézef Domzal, a resident of the nearby village:

I cross the gateway of the fenced-off area for the first time. . . I visit all the other bar-
racks. They’re empty. There are four of them. One bigger than the others. The first
housed the perpetrators’ cars. In the second there was a reparations workshop. In the
third, the small one, were the valuables of the murdered people. I don’t know what
the fourth one was for. The fifth was the old granary, converted into a concentration

camp for handcuffed Jews . . .18

Traces of the camp were also observed in the Rzuchéw forest when a group of
representatives of the Turek District Office arrived in April 1945. The head of the
delegation, Jakub Waldman, a survivor of the ghetto in Czachulec (Heidemiihle),
noted: ‘in one clearing were the remains of two graves, and in the other the remains
of two destroyed stoves . . . as well as whole human bones . . . The other remains of
the murders in the palace in Chelmno and in the Chelmski [Rzuchow - author’s
note] forests are a terrible, bloodcurdling sight’'® In May 1945 similar traces were
documented by representatives of the Main Commission for the Investigation of
German Crimes in Poland during their visit to the former camp area. As well as
the mass graves, bone fragment, and the remains of the crematoria, they discovered
several narrow-gauge railway tracks in the Rzuchéw forest, which had been used as
the grate in the crematorium furnace.?
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All these findings influenced the decision to launch an investigation into the
activities of the camp. In June 1945 this task was entrusted to Wiadystaw Bednarz,
ajudge in the District Court in £6dz.?! He initiated enthusiastic operations, includ-
ing excavations at the sites that were still clearly visible in the area. According to the
laconically written documentation, the work was conducted on an ad hoc basis. The
main aim was to reveal the mass graves, which would be treated as evidence in the
investigation. As a result, the Jewish halachic tradition regarding the inviolability of
the graves of the dead was ignored.

An attempt was made to dig up the so-called ‘Wtoclawek grave, where six survey
excavations were carried out. A statement from the District Commission for the
Investigation of German Crimes in £6dz revealed that ‘under the overgrown grass
was a scorched layer of soil, below that there were human bones, and then, at a depth
of about five metres below the surface, corpses in underwear, lying sometimes in
one layer, sometimes two.*> In November 1945 an unclassified ‘glade planted with
young birch’> was examined, and the pit used to burn corpses was discovered: ‘at a
depth of two metres, a forty to fifty centimetre thick layer of ash has been revealed
in the sandy soil. The ash contains the remains of bones, hair, spoons, and charred
metal tips from boots, as well as unburnt bones’** Unfortunately, the lack of a plan
or sketch of the area from that time makes it impossible to indicate precisely the
sites of the two excavations.

The investigator demonstrated similar initiative on the premises of the former
estate in Chelmno, where, in September 1945, in cooperation with officers of the
Citizens’ Militia and District Security Office, excavations were carried out near the
granary. During the fifteen-day project one of the dumping pits was discovered
between the building and the palace ruins.”® The entire undertaking was described
only perfunctorily in the report: ‘at a depth of about 1.5 metres, an intricate layer of
various types of waste and burnt objects was found, including pans, pots, spoons,
knives, forks, bags of food, etc)”® In the summary, the number of all excavated
items was given as follows: 24,200 spoons.. . ., 4,500 pairs of scissors, around 250
forks, and a large number of knives, pliers, clippers, glasses, and all kinds of iron’?”
The secured items were transported to the Magistrates’ Court in Kolo and then
deposited at the safe of the District Court in £L.6dz. They disappeared in unexplained
circumstances.?®

At the same time the plundering of Jewish properties began. In the Rzuchéw for-
est local residents were digging up mass graves and crematoria in search of ‘yellow
gold’* Similar incidents likely took place in the village itself, according to a letter
addressed to the priest of the local parish, in which Bednarz wrote: T have been
informed that a number of people have found parts of rosaries, medallions, crosses,
etc., in the ruins of the former palace in Chelmno. Many of the parishioners do
not want to disclose how they found these items or to submit them as material evi-
dence’® The ruins of the palace, where the building material was obtained, were also
subjected to plundering.*! According to some authors, this practice remained on a
small scale,** although this view is difficult to verify, due to the lack of unambiguous
sources.
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Contemporary archaeological research

In the second half of the 1980s, the voivodeship authorities decided to hand over
the cemetery grounds to the District Museum in Konin. The museum director at
the time, Lucja Pawlicka-Nowak, who was dedicated to saving Jewish heritage, was
soon planning new excavations. This came as a direct result of the idea to establish
a new museum facility, and the related need to acquire items for exhibition.*

An extensive interdisciplinary study was launched, including research based on
archival sources, interviews with the local population and photographic interpreta-
tion of the terrain. These made it possible to carry out the first precise surveys within
the cemetery in 1986-87,%* which involved an attempt to identify the topography
and camp infrastructure. The fundamental problem faced by the researchers was
the alteration in the structure of the terrain, resulting from clean-up work (includ-
ing deep ploughing) and the construction of a memorial monument in the 1960s.
Within the study area, located in the southern part of the largest camp clearing,
five pits with a total area of 208 m* were found. One contained the remains of a
crematorium, including segments of reinforced concrete, bricks and large amounts
of burned bones (excavation II). Two of the pits (IV and V) contained two shallow
holes with fragments of burned bones, which were incorrectly assumed to have been
pits for burning corpses.*> However, in areas where the remains of light wooden
structures — such as the barracks used during the second phase of the camp — were
anticipated to be found, no such traces were unearthed. On the other hand, a sig-
nificant number of movable relics - items belonging to the victims - were obtained
during the research.

Further research was suspended for financial reasons. It was not until state funds
were acquired from the Council for the Protection of Struggle and Martyrdom Sites
that the work could be resumed. In 1997 the research was once again focused on
the area of the former estate in the village of Chelmno, where a substantial part of
the former camp existed. The decision to conduct this research was dictated by the
drastic transformations being made by the Commune Cooperative (which had been
managing the area since the 1950s) and concerns about its further destruction.

The research conducted in 1997 included the grounds of a nearby church, which
had been directly connected to the camp as a storehouse for the possessions of mur-
dered prisoners (1942) and a concentration building for deportees (1944). Three
survey excavations were set up around the chancel. They revealed the traces of
hearths used to destroy the victims’ personal belongings, as evidenced by the numer-
ous half-burned items discovered there. Research on the grounds of the estate itself
focused on two main objectives: uncovering the remains of palace and exploring the
dumping pits. The work was carried out over five years (1997-2001) around the cen-
tral camp building and resulted in a full reconnaissance. In the first year the extent
of the palace was established (41.65 x 13.68 m); a corridor (32.80 x 1.20 m) was
revealed running through the cellars, along which victims were led to the gas cham-
ber lorries; and several rooms were identified, including workshops and a prison
cell.’” In 1998 the main entrance (used for formal occasions before the war) was
unearthed, along with the staircase.”® In 1999 the southern part of the building was
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investigated, revealing a series of further rooms,* and the following year one of
the two western entrances to the palace (which had been used to receive transports)
was discovered. The comprehensive exploration of the ruins, in addition to the many
items acquired, formed the basis for the interpretation of the functions of individual
rooms:

in the basement located on the south side, counting from the west, there were three tai-
loring workshops and two shoemaking workshops. It is difficult to clearly determine
whether there was an internal connection between them . .. Behind the five rooms
determined as craft workshops, there were others, most likely sanitary facilities.. . . .

Behind those were another three rooms.*°

In the final year the research focused on the area around the palace, revealing part
of the transport route, among other things.*!

In parallel, the research covered the remaining area of the land estate, where a
number of survey excavations were set up, resulting in the discovery of nine dump-
ing pits.* The main part of the exploration work was carried out in 2002, revealing
arange of victims’ personal items. The conducted analysis made it possible to grasp
the relationship between their chronology and the internal layout of the camp.
‘Objects’ associated with the first period (1941-43) were clustered in the area to
the north and north-east of the granary. One of the pits was located between the
granary and the palace. Meanwhile, the pits from the second period (1944) were
located at the northern edge of the camp, in the garden area.*’

In the period 2003-5 the research that had been interrupted sixteen years earlier
in the Rzuchéw forest was resumed. The main task facing the researchers was an
attempt to determine the correct boundaries of the mass graves (which had been
commemorated by the construction of the memorial monument in 1962-64) and
the locations of the individual camp buildings. The specificity of the site, as well as
halachic tradition, necessitated the adoption of a different research technique from
that used by the investigators in 1945. Thus, the survey excavations were set up in
places where no mass graves were expected to be located, based on previous photo-
graphic interpretation. In the vicinity of the graves the turf and humus layers could
be removed, but only to the point where stratigraphic disturbances were encoun-
tered.** For verification purposes a hand-drilling method was used.*” This enabled
the identification of ‘objects’ while keeping the structure of the graves intact. As
a result, the perception of the internal topography of the cemetery changed com-
pletely. It was established that the actual scale of the graves was greater than had
been previously assumed on the basis of witness accounts. In some cases it was pos-
sible to determine the creation date — the first grave was dated to January 1942.
Particularly interesting results were obtained from the horizontal stratigraphy anal-
ysis of the largest mid-forest camp clearing, where it was possible to distinguish
the so-called ‘functional zones. In the eastern part of the clearing two mass graves
were discovered, along with a row of ten so-called ‘field pits’ that had served a sepul-
chral purpose. Meanwhile, in the western zone, a number of utility sites were found,
including four crematoria - erected in the first and second periods (‘object’: 1/87,
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10/03, 21/03, 22/04), four furnaces for burning corpses (‘object: 2/03-4/03 and
20/03), and a yard for the bone grinder (‘object’: 23/04).%

The final round of research in the area of the former camp was conducted in
the summer of 2016 as part of the preparatory works related to the construction of
a new museum pavilion. Despite the small scope of the research, and its focus on
the north-eastern section of the former estate in Chelmno, new, unexpected infor-
mation was obtained. The findings of the research, conducted by the museum in
cooperation with the University of £6dz Institute of Archaeology, included relics
and impressions of stone and brick foundations that suggested the existence of two
closely related buildings. The acquired movable materials, including numerous frag-
ments of ceramic vessels, dated the sites from the early Middle Ages (thirteenth
century) up to the seventeenth or eighteenth century. Historical surveys confirmed
the researchers’ hypotheses connecting the discovered buildings with the manor
farm that still belongs to the archdiocese of Gniezno, which has managed the area
of the village since the twelfth century.*’

Summary

The archaeological work carried out over three decades has constituted one of the
most important scientific and research-based undertakings relating to the former
Kulmhof extermination centre in Chetmno nad Nerem. The fact that the work was
conducted over a long period and covered such a wide area allowed for a compre-
hensive reconnaissance of the camp area, enabling the precise location of a number
of ‘objects’ Among other things, the structure of the former palace and the internal
topography of the estate grounds were identified, and the role of the parish church
in the extermination process was verified. In the Rzuchéw forest the actual sizes
and boundaries of the graves, and the locations of the crematoria and makeshift
functional pits, were determined. Above all, a significant number of movable relics -
possessions of the victims — were acquired. These items constitute a testimony, serv-
ing as symbols of the crimes committed, and restoring the history and memory of
the victims.
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